THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

JUL 22 2015

SC Court of Appeals

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2015-UP-262 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 20, 2015)

Appellate Case No. 2013-000694

The State, ..... Petitioner,

v.

Erick Arroyo, ..... Respondent.

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General

SCARLETTE A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

Other Counsel of Record:

David Alexander, Esquire  
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals improperly conclude “the circuit court erred in admitting unredacted portions of a forensic interviewer’s report” and err in reversing Respondent’s conviction where it failed to address critical error preservation issues and conducted no substantive analysis whatsoever in support of why it concluded those portions of the report constituted a comment on the victim’s believability?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Erick A. Arroyo (Respondent) was indicted at the January 2010 term of the grand jury for Charleston County for one count of second-degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor (2010-GS-10-522) and one count of lewd act upon a child (2010-GS-10-529). He was subsequently indicted at the July 2011 term of the grand jury for a second count of second-degree CSC with a minor (2011-GS-10-4790). (App.p.949-p.954). He was represented by Andrew J. Savage, Esquire, of the Charleston County Bar. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Elizabeth Gordon of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office. On July 9-13, 2012, Respondent proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable J.C. "Buddy" Nicholson, Jr., pursuant to which he was found guilty as indicted. Following the verdict, the trial judge deferred sentencing until Respondent could be given an evaluation by a forensic psychiatrist. (App.p.842, line 24-p.847, line 16; p.955-p.957). On February 26, 2013, Respondent filed a motion for a new trial. (App.p.884-p.899). On March 4, 2013, the trial court reconvened for a sentencing hearing but again deferred imposing sentence until further review of the psychiatrist's report. (App.p.850-p.883). On March 12, 2013, the trial court sentenced Respondent to fifteen (15) years' concurrent imprisonment on the two counts of second-degree CSC with a minor, and fifteen (15) years' consecutive imprisonment suspended upon the service of five (5) years' probation on the lewd act charge. The court ordered to "toll probation until the defendant can complete a sexual abuse program." (App.p.955-p.957). On March 22, 2013, the trial court issued an order denying Respondent's motion for a new trial. (App.p.900). Respondent timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentence and the parties submitted briefs addressing five issues raised by

Respondent on appeal. (App.p.959-p.1060). On May 20, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion that reversed Respondent's convictions based on one of those five grounds. State v. Arroyo, Op. No. 2015-UP-262 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 20, 2015). (App.p.1061-p.1062). The State submitted a petition for rehearing on June 1, 2015, and by order filed June 22, 2015, the petition was denied. (App.p.1063-p.1084). This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals, submitted on behalf of the State, now follows.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The full statement of facts recited in the Final Brief of [the State] is hereby incorporated by reference; however, an abbreviated version which is more narrowly tailored to the sole issue in the State's Petition appears below. During pretrial arguments, Respondent advised the court he would be objecting during trial to any analysis by any forensic interviewer that would bolster the credibility of the victim. He argued: "Any opinion of a so-called expert as to truthfulness, believability, symptoms of post-traumatic stress syndrome, symptoms of child abuse, it's all impermissible under the current case law in South Carolina." (App.p.55, line 24-p.57, line 25).

At trial, the victim gave detailed testimony about the sexual abuse committed by Respondent when she was twelve and thirteen years old. She explained how he started by rubbing her back and slowly progressed to rubbing her front through her clothes, including the front of her pants near her zipper. Respondent later started touching the victim inside her underwear and putting his hands inside her "privacies." Eventually, Respondent progressed to putting his penis in the victim's vagina and using his tongue

and mouth to perform oral sex on her on multiple occasions. Respondent told the victim he was doing these things so she would not experiment with other boys and he said that he loved her. (App.p.72, line 23-p.86, line 23).

In regard to the emotional impact and how it affected her disclosure, the victim testified the sexual abuse made her feel like she was “a nothing” and that she avoided telling anybody because she thought people were going to judge her and not believe her. (App.p.84, lines 1-13). She testified that during the sexual abuse she felt like something was “wrong” with her and that she “just froze.” (App.p.84, lines 24-25; p.86, lines 14-18). The victim testified that even after her Aunt Joyce “caught” Respondent trying to do things to her in the garage, she did not tell what happened because she was afraid her aunt would not believe her and would not say anything to help. (App.p.86, line 24-p.89, line 6). The victim admitted that sometimes the sexual contact felt good but testified she thought she was “disgusting for feeling that way” and that she was “sinning.” She said it caused her to stop praying and going to church. She became mean and bitter, but she did not show it to people. The victim acted nice and smiled all the time, but her mother still noticed something was wrong. (App.p.91, line 14-p.92, line 9). The victim testified she knew Respondent’s penis was inside her vagina during the abuse because she could feel it moving as he started slowly and then would start going faster. She said it hurt physically the first time his penis was inside her, and that it hurt emotionally every time she was raped. (App.p.93, lines 6-20).

Next, the State called Melina Arroyo (Melina) to the stand. She explained the victim is her daughter and Respondent is her older brother. Melina described her relationship with Respondent, her relationship with Respondent’s estranged wife Joyce

Arroyo (Joyce), and the events that led her to report the sexual abuse of the victim to the Mount Pleasant Police Department. (App.p.153, line 3-p.158, line 25). In particular she described an incident when Respondent called her at work to tell her Joyce had “left him” and was accusing him of molesting the victim. Melina testified that when she called the victim to ask if Respondent had touched her, the victim was “very jumpy” but denied anything inappropriate happened. (App.p.159, line 1-p.161, line 8). Next, she described an incident on September 20, 2009, where she had fallen asleep in Respondent’s living room while watching football on TV. She awoke to discover Respondent leaning over the victim with his face on her chest and breasts. She gathered up the victim and her younger siblings and drove directly to the Mount Pleasant Police Department. (App.p.162, line 8-p.168, line 7). Melina testified the victim was “in shock” during the car ride, but insisted “nothing happened.” She begged the victim to tell her the truth and although the victim was “scared,” “crying,” and “frozen,” she eventually acknowledged Respondent had been touching her breasts. After arriving at the police department, Melina told the victim to tell her more or she would ask the police to put her through a lie detector test. Melina reminded the victim she was her mother, and if the victim thought her own mother could not help and protect her she would not get through this. The victim then started telling Melina “a bunch of stuff,” which Melina relayed to the police. (App.p.168, line 8-p.171, line 1). Melina testified her relationship with the victim suffered as a result of the sexual abuse and that it had been a hard road because the victim was no longer a sweet, innocent child. (R.p.173, lines 20-24). She testified that when she woke up and saw Respondent molesting the victim, the victim was “panicked,” had “big eyes,” and looked “very frightened.” (R.p.174, lines 15-21).

The State later called Joyce to the stand. She explained she was married to Respondent and they have three biological daughters together. Joyce testified the victim is the daughter of Respondent's stepsister, Melina Arroyo. She explained how Melina and her children moved in with Respondent and the unusually close relationship Respondent developed with the victim. Joyce described an occasion when she was looking for a television remote control when she discovered a bottle of massage oil in the couch. She asked Respondent why it was there and he turned pale and said not to tell the victim. Joyce also described a particular incident when she got up late at night and found Respondent and the victim standing face-to-face together in the dark garage. They quickly moved apart and she saw the victim zipping up her pants. When Joyce asked Respondent why the victim's pants were unzipped, he said he did not know. She also asked what they were doing together in the garage so late at night and he said nothing was going on and that he was tutoring the victim. Joyce testified: "I told him that this wasn't the first time that I had caught him in the middle of the night with a child and that it doesn't look good and that I'm not going to put up with it and that I wanted him to leave." She said he started crying and said he should not have put himself in that position, but maintained she has a dirty mind and that nothing was going on. Respondent did not object to this testimony. (App.p.563, line 13-p.571, line 7). Joyce then answered questions about her plans to leave Respondent. She said Respondent insisted they work on the marriage and told her not to tell anybody about the incident. He told her if she did no one would believe her because of "who he was." Joyce said the thought of working on their marriage "was very hard for me because of his past record with me." (App.p.571, line 21-p.573, line 4).

The State subsequently announced it planned to call Dr. Don Elsey to the stand. The jury was sent out and the trial court heard arguments regarding Respondent's motion to restrict Dr. Elsey's testimony. Respondent said he had no issue with Dr. Elsey's expertise and that his challenge was solely to the nature of the testimony being offered. The solicitor explained Dr. Elsey is a licensed professional counselor and conducted a forensic interview of the victim after the sexual abuse was reported to the police. She said the State intended to elicit testimony about the time and place of the sexual assaults as disclosed by the victim, and expert testimony about delayed disclosure, grooming, and why children do not tell about the abuse. The solicitor said Dr. Elsey would not give any opinion on whether he believed the victim was telling the truth. Respondent continued to object on two grounds. First, he argued the testimony would be cumulative to testimony already elicited from Dr. Steenkamp and Dr. Amaya about PTSD and the effects of child abuse and delayed disclosure. Second, he argued the testimony sought would be improper vouching and equivalent to Dr. Elsey saying he believed the victim. The trial court deferred ruling on whether the testimony was cumulative until the witness took the stand but held Dr. Elsey would not be allowed to testify he reached a conclusion that the victim was telling the truth. The judge agreed with Respondent that any such conclusion, as well as any testimony that the disclosure was compelling, detailed, or consistent with sexual abuse was improper and would not be allowed. (App.p.620, line 5-p.629, line 23).

The State then called Dr. Elsey to the stand. He was admitted as an expert in child abuse and forensic interviewing, without objection. Dr. Elsey interviewed the victim on September 22, 2009, two days after the police were contacted by the victim's

mother. During that interview she told him she had been sexually abused more than one time over the past year, and the abuse happened in her uncle's house. Over Respondent's continuing objections, Dr. Elsey gave detailed testimony about delayed disclosure, tentative disclosure, accidental disclosure, and grooming. He also noted that a primary attribute of PTSD is avoidance, which can contribute to a child not wanting to talk about abuse. (App.p.632, line 8-p.638, line 21).

On cross-examination, **Respondent asked Dr. Elsey if he ever wrote a report** concerning the observations he made and the information he gathered from the victim and her mother. Dr. Elsey produced a copy of his written report and showed it to Respondent's counsel. (App.p.643, lines 4-23) (emphasis added). Respondent then questioned Dr. Elsey extensively about the interviews and the written report, asking whether the process he used during the interviews was "to identify whether or not this child had experienced abuse." Respondent asked Dr. Elsey whether "the role of the Lowcountry Children's Center was to assist the police in identifying criminal conduct." He also asked: "But part of that is also to have your resources used to engage in scientific hardcore evidence **to verify the credibility and believability of the child?**" Dr. Elsey answered: "Well, the credibility and believability is usually left up to the court to decide. We certainly do ask questions. Can the child really know what tell the truth means? Can they give us accurate information about things we do know? Where they go to school, who lives in their house, those type of things." (App.p.643, line 24-p.645, line 12) (emphasis added). Respondent then **specifically asked Dr. Elsey to refer to the written report** before answering whether the victim

and her mother denied the victim had been exposed to pornography from someone other than Respondent. (App.p.647, line 9-p.648, line 22).

On re-direct examination, the solicitor had the written report marked for identification as State's Exhibit Number 9. Dr. Elsey identified the report as one he prepared regarding his interview with the victim and testified it was a fair and accurate representation of the interview. The State moved to place the report into evidence and, after Respondent asked for confirmation it was the same report Dr. Elsey testified about on cross-examination, **Respondent stated: "I don't have any objection." The entire written report was then admitted into evidence.** (App.p.654, line 6-p.655, line 10) (emphasis added).

During a subsequent discussion regarding whether the videotape of the interview should be admissible, Respondent acknowledged he had questioned Dr. Elsey about the report, but he never mentioned the video. The solicitor argued the video should be admitted as the "complete statement" because the report was merely a summary of the interview. She, however, noted the report contained information about a "prior bad act" the court had previously ruled inadmissible. Respondent asked that the prior bad act information be redacted and the trial judge agreed to the request. (App.p.660, line 23-p.668, line 18).

After the State rested, Respondent moved to strike the entire testimony of Dr. Elsey on grounds that it violated Rule 403, SCRE, and that it improperly inferred the victim was telling the truth. He made no mention of the written report that had been admitted into evidence. The motion was denied. (App.p.673, line 18-p.675, line 3). Before breaking for the day, the trial judge reminded the solicitor to take State's

Exhibit Number 9 and redact the information referencing the prior bad act. (App.p.683, lines 2-25). **The following morning, counsel for Respondent went on record to note he had failed to object to Dr. Elsey's report when it was offered by the State.** He said he could not give an explanation for this because he had consistently objected to that type of evidence throughout the trial. Counsel argued his "non-objection" was clearly erroneous and would be reversed if challenged in a post-conviction hearing. Despite the earlier failure to object, the trial judge allowed Respondent to make any objections he had to the report because the jury had not yet seen it. The judge also suggested redacting any objectionable material rather than excluding the entire report, and asked the parties to see if they could reach an agreement before the end of the trial. (App.p.687, line 14-p.690, line 20).

After Respondent presented a defense and the State presented evidence in reply, Respondent moved to exclude Dr. Elsey's written report in its entirety. He argued it was not possible to redact the report sufficiently to exclude the things that would be in violation of Jennings,<sup>1</sup> and argued it was inevitable the case would be reversed on appeal or post-conviction relief if he was not allowed to remedy his earlier failure to object. The court repeated the decision to allow Respondent to ask that the report be excluded despite the fact it had already been admitted without objection. The State argued the complete report (minus the redaction of any reference to the prior bad act) was admissible under Rule 106, SCRE, and as a prior consistent statement under Rule 801, SCRE. Respondent responded that even if Rule 106 applied; it would not trump Jennings and this Court's decision that hearsay statements from the victim are

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011).

inadmissible.<sup>2</sup> The trial judge denied Respondent's request to remove the entire report from evidence and instead elected to redact the particular questions from the interview that concerned the interviewer's opinion regarding the truthfulness of the victim. The court then asked Respondent if he believed any additional portions should be redacted. Respondent requested a host of additional redactions, most of which were granted by the trial court. The solicitor argued Respondent had opened the door to introduction of the report, including the portions touching on credibility, because he asked questions about it during his cross-examination of Dr. Elsey. The court acknowledged the solicitor's argument but nevertheless decided to redact the portions of the report the judge determined might constitute vouching. The trial judge also agreed to redact additional portions of the report at Respondent's request, but eventually denied any further redactions and held the heavily redacted version would be substituted as State's Exhibit Number 9 when the report went to the jury. (App.p.752, line 25-p.767, line 25). Respondent said he was still concerned about the redactions not going far enough. (App.p.770, lines 8-24).

After presentation of all evidence, closing arguments, and the jury charge, the trial court asked the parties to review the exhibits that would be sent to the jury, including State's Exhibit Number 9, the redacted copy of Dr. Elsey's written report. The original exhibit was replaced with a redacted copy, marked, and admitted into evidence. Respondent continued to object to the extent of redaction the Court had proposed. The trial judge noted he had redacted everything Respondent requested,

---

<sup>2</sup> This was the first time Respondent made an argument that any portion of Dr. Elsey's report was inadmissible on grounds that it included hearsay. His pretrial argument and the argument articulated throughout the trial was that portions of the report would constitute improper vouching for the victim's credibility.

except the things he previously refused to redact as described in the record.

(App.p.834, line 5-p.836, line 3).

At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Respondent as indicted. On February 26, 2013, Respondent filed a motion for a new trial. He argued the admission into evidence of Dr. Elsey's report constituted error because it contained inadmissible hearsay bolstering the trial testimony of the victim and improperly gave the forensic interviewer's expert opinion on the veracity of the child. (App.p.884-p.899). On March 22, 2013, the trial court issued an order denying Respondent's motion for a new trial. (App.p.900).

#### **CERTIORARI**

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