STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Charleston County

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

AUG 14 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ERICK ARROYO,

---

Petitioner

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000694

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly reversed Respondent's conviction because the trial court admitted, over an objection deemed timely and ruled on by the trial judge, a forensic interviewer's report that, among other objectionable portions, described the complainant as an "accurate reporter regarding verifiable information," and indicated that the forensic interviewer believed the complainant had not been coached.

### Reasons Why the Writ Should Not be Granted

No reasons governing the review of cases from the Court of Appeals exist. Rule 242(b), SCACR. The State does not contend that a novel issue of law exists. Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR. The Court of Appeals' decision contained no dissent; its decision was unpublished and *per curiam*. Rule 242(b)(2), SCACR. The State does not contend that a substantial constitutional question is involved or that the decision conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Rule 242(b)(4) and (5), SCACR.

The sole reason relied upon by the State to contend this case is worthy of a grant of certiorari is that it is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court.<sup>1</sup> Rule 242(b)(3). The State also attempts to manufacture a preservation issue where none exists. The Court of Appeals conducted a straightforward application of this Court's jurisprudence to reverse respondent's conviction. In this case, a forensic interviewer's report was admitted into evidence. The report indicated that the

---

<sup>1</sup> Also complaining about the summary nature of the opinion below, the State contends that certiorari should be granted "because the parties and the victim deserve a thorough analysis . . . **even if this Court ultimately reaches the same conclusion as the Court of Appeals.**" State's Pet. Cert. at 15 (emphasis added). This is no reason to grant certiorari and shows the weakness of the State's petition. If this Court is going to reach the same decision, then additional analysis is not warranted when the Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished. During the time it takes for this "thorough analysis" that will make no difference in this case or in the development of the law, Arroyo will be waiting on his new trial in prison.

forensic interviewer believed the complainant. Respondent objected to the specific portions of the report and the trial judge overruled the objection. App. 768, l. 1 – 777, l. 3. App. 767, l. 6 – 768, l. 1. App. 946. App. 884. App. 900. Reversal was the uncontroversial result of the application of this Court’s decisions in State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011) and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). This Court’s more recent decisions in State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015) and State v. Isaac Antonio Anderson, Op. No. 27588, Shearouse Adv. Sheet No. 30 (Aug. 5, 2015) confirm that the Court of Appeals’ decision was correct. The Court should deny the State’s petition.

Furthermore, the court could have reversed on any of the other four substantial grounds raised by respondent. App. 963. Because the issue on which the court reversed is so manifestly clear, respondent will not address these other issues in this Return; however, should the Court grant certiorari, it will either need to address respondent’s other issues or remand to the Court of Appeals for consideration. State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 354 n.6, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 n.6 (1999).

#### *The State’s Preservation Red Herring*

No preservation issue exists in this case. The State repeatedly tries to manufacture a preservation problem in an attempt to kick this case down the road to post-conviction relief. This Court should not be fooled. The trial lawyers raised the issue to the court and the trial judge ruled.

The State’s assertion that the issue is unpreserved rests on the fact that when the forensic interviewer’s report was first offered for admission, respondent’s attorney failed to object. App. 654, l. 8 – 655, l. 10. Originally, Arroyo did not object to the entry of the report. App. 655, ll. 7 – 10. However, trial counsel admitted the failure to object was a mistake and Judge Nicholson allowed him to make an objection to the admission of the report. App. 666, ll. 3 – 16. App. 687, l. 18 – 690, l. 24. The following colloquy demonstrates that the issue is preserved for appeal:

THE COURT: So you want to reconsider your—you want to object now?

MR. SAVAGE: Yes.

THE COURT: **I'll allow you to do that. What's your objection?** Now, I believe that's the one I said had to be redacted.

MR. SAVAGE: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has it been redacted?

App. 688, ll. 1 – 8 (emphasis added). Judge Nicholson then engaged in a discussion with the parties about the admissibility of the forensic interviewer's report, what should be redacted, and attempted to get the parties to agree on the redactions. App. 688, l. 9 – 690, l. 20. The trial judge said if the parties could not agree on redactions, "I'll sit here and look at it and make a determination on his motion." App. 690, ll. 2 – 6.

The parties did not agree. App. 752, l. 21 – 758, l. 21. The trial judge again emphasized that he was allowing argument despite trial counsel's initial oversight in not objecting, stating, "I'm allowing you to ask the Court to remove it even though it's already been admitted without objection. So that mistake is corrected in this Court's opinion." App. 754, ll. 15 – 18. Citing Jennings, Arroyo first objected to the admission of the report in its entirety on the ground that it commented on Minor's veracity. App. 752, l. 21 – 758, l. 21. Judge Nicholson then ruled he would redact the report to remove any comment on Minor's veracity. App. 758, ll. 5 – 15. Arroyo then made specific objections to portions of the report that remained that still referred to Minor's veracity. App. 759, l. 1 – 768, l. 3. The trial court ultimately overruled a number of these objections and admitted a redacted version of the forensic interviewer's report into evidence. App. 767, l. 6 – 768, l. 1. App. 946.

Arroyo filed a written motion for a new trial regarding the admission of Elsey's report. App. 884. Judge Nicholson did not hear oral argument on the motion and denied it in a written order. App. 900. The issue before the Court of Appeals was the same as the one presented with specificity to the trial judge below. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 522 S.E.2d 598 (1999). This issue is preserved and the Court should ignore the State's attempts to confuse the issue with its arguments on procedural bar.

*The State's Harmless Error Red Herring*

While not mentioned in its Question Presented, the State alludes to harmless error in its petition. State's Pet. Cert. at 16-17, 20. Harmless error cannot apply in this case. "The determination whether a bolstering error is harmless depends on whether the case turns on the credibility of the victim." Chavis at 110-11, 771 S.E.2d at 341. No physical evidence of abuse existed in this case. Arroyo, a decorated retired Naval officer, testified in his own defense and unequivocally denied abusing the complainant. App. 720, l. 15 – 721, l. 15. The case was a contest between Arroyo's credibility and the State's witnesses; therefore the error cannot be harmless.<sup>2</sup>

The State's petition asserts that Arroyo was "caught" by two "eyewitnesses." State's Pet. Cert. 16. Both of these witnesses also had serious credibility problems and their existence does not somehow transform this swearing match into a harmless error case. The first of these "eyewitnesses" was Minor's mother, Melina Arroyo ("Melina") who had been previously hospitalized for a psychiatric illness, had two of her boyfriends arrested, and had social services

---

<sup>2</sup> One of appellant's issues not reached below was the court's refusal to give a charge that a defendant's good character can create reasonable doubt. State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 175, 539 S.E.2d 71, 76 (Ct. App. 2000) ("A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction regarding evidence of good character and reputation when this type of evidence is presented and the defendant requests the charge.")

involvement regarding Minor. App. 599, ll. 1 – 2. App. 217, ll. 7 – 14. App. 235, l. 21 – 237, l. 4. App. 239, ll. 9 – 16. App. 215, ll. 12 – 20. App. 256, l. 23 – 357, l. 9.

The second of these “eyewitnesses” was Arroyo’s wife, Joyce Arroyo (“Joyce”) who was suing him for divorce. Joyce originally wrote a letter on Arroyo’s behalf to help him obtain a bond. App. 596, ll. 9 – 19. Joyce wrote that they were separated due to problems “with my husband’s sister, Melina, who fled to South Carolina from Florida threatening to commit suicide due to an abusive relationship with a man she left, the husband [sic] of her two children.” App. 618, ll. 3 – 11. Joyce stated in the letter that she was sad that their dream of retiring in Mount Pleasant “would not come true due to a person that we took into our home and cared for even when others warned us against it.” App. 618, ll. 12 – 18.

When Arroyo’s relationship with Joyce later soured, he successfully contested jurisdiction over the divorce proceedings Joyce filed in Texas. App. 581, l. 11 – 589, ll. 6. App. 905. The Texas action was dismissed and Joyce had to file for divorce in South Carolina. App. 581, l. 11 – 589, ll. 6. App. 905. Joyce left Arroyo a voicemail stating:

You got your jurisdiction over there in South Carolina, at least temporarily because I will appeal because I have the right to fight you here in Texas. But if you want to fight there in South Carolina, that is going to be the worst thing that you could have done for your case because I will make everything and blow it up so badly over there in South Carolina that you are going to wish that you never, never crossed paths with me.

App. 905. On April 15, 2011, Joyce sent Arroyo an email stating:

I’ll contact the Newspaper there in Charleston tomorrow to discuss with them doing a story on predators in your own backyard..... I think this jurisdiction thing needs some light shined on it

App. 905. On May 26, 2011, Joyce sent Arroyo another email stating:

Funny how when I sent you the below email you responded quickly. But when I sent you an email recently requesting the agreement you are quiet. That's okay... You will have a surprise waiting for you very soon. What is the saying "don't bend over to get the soap" just stay dirty.... it will be safer than having to watch your backside. This will be my last correspondence till you receive the divorce papers when you are in prison, unless the judge will sign off on them at your trial? See you in August at the trial... At least that is what the solicitor is stating?

App. 905. The trial judge refused to allow Arroyo to impeach Joyce with these statements, which was another issue raised below and not reached by the Court of Appeals.

Both Joyce and Melina's accounts of what they saw differed significantly from what Minor claimed happened. Compare App. 113, ll. 7 – 21 and App. 127, l. 22 – 231, ll. 6 (*Minor's descriptions*) with App. 220, l. 19 – 321, l. 14 (*Melina's description*) and App. 601, l. 14 – 607, ll. 7 (*Joyce's description*). Melina's description of the alleged abuse is particularly noteworthy. Melina and her children had moved out of Arroyo's house, but returned to watch an evening football game. App. 162, ll. 3 – 23. Melina had two alcoholic beverages and then fell asleep on a couch in the living room after dinner. App. 163, l. 9 – 165, l. 15. Melina described what happened next:

The next thing I remember after falling asleep on the couch, I felt very cold, freezing, but my body was sweaty. I remember **something touching me** and telling me, wake up, wake up. You need to wake up now.

Q. Like somebody physically touching you to wake up?

A. I don't know. **Like God, like some big hands on my body** like telling me, you need to wake up. And then I woke up and opened my eyes. When I open my eyes, I see my brother leaning on my daughter like with his face on her chest and her boobs and her head. I saw him, I saw him.

App. 166, ll. 6 – 16 (emphasis added). Her two younger children were also in the room. App. 223, ll. 15 – 17. Minor was laying on her back. App. 223, ll. 5 – 6. Arroyo was lying on top of Minor.

App. 224, ll. 19 – 20. Arroyo “rolled over the couch” and appeared to be looking for something.

App. 224, ll. 2 – 4.

At trial, Minor described this incident quite differently. Minor said she was laying on the couch covered by a blanket. App. 128, ll. 10 – 13. Arroyo was standing over her. App. 128, l. 20 – 129, l. 10. Minor said that Arroyo was “[s]tanding totally straight up.” App. 129, l. 13. Minor’s clothes were on, but Arroyo’s pants were unzipped. App. 130, ll. 8 – 9. Minor said Arroyo “was trying to make me touch his penis.” App. 129, ll. 21 – 22. Harmless error cannot exist in a case where the defendant takes the stand and denies all wrongdoing, the complainant says the defendant was standing up with his penis exposed, and a witness says the defendant was clothed and lying down on top of the complainant.

Minor and Joyce’s versions also differed significantly. According to Minor, she and Arroyo were in his garage at night. App. 111, l. 23 – 113, l. 6. Minor said Arroyo “had his pants down and his penis out.” App. 113, ll. 7 – 10. Arroyo’s pants were down to “just below his waist.” App. 138, ll. 23 – 25. The lights were on. App. 110, ll. 18 – 25. Minor’s pants were not all the way down, but Arroyo was trying to take them off. App. 113, ll. 7 – 21. Her zipper was undone. App. 138, ll. 12 – 15. She was standing. App. 113, l. 17 – 18. Arroyo was trying to penetrate her with his penis. App. 113, ll. 19 – 21. At this point Joyce walked into the garage. App. 139, ll. 1 – 8. She started zipping up her pants and Arroyo walked to the freezer. App. 139, ll. 1 – 16.

Contrast Minor’s version with Joyce’s, in which the “lights were not on” and Arroyo did not have his pants “unbuttoned in any way or in any fashion.” R. 592, ll. 14 – 16. R. 593, ll. 14 – 16. Joyce affirmed that she was “sure of that.” R. 593, ll. 17 – 18. Joyce did not turn on the light. R. 596, ll. 2 – 6. Joyce had a clear view of Arroyo. R. 598, ll. 1 – 7. Joyce claimed that she could see through a crack of the refrigerator door and saw Minor zip up her pants. R. 560, ll. 14 – 21. Again,

harmless error cannot exist in a case with these contradictions and where the defendant testified and denied all allegations of abuse.

*The Court of Appeals' Straightforward Application of Supreme Court Jurisprudence*

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's jurisprudence in analyzing Elsey's report. In addition to multiple sentences violating the time and place restriction of Rule 801(d)(1), the redacted Elsey report still contains information vouching for Minor's credibility. It states, "Did the child present as **an accurate reporter regarding verifiable information?**" with a box indicating Elsey's answer of "Yes." App. 946 (emphasis added). It asks, "Was the child able to respond to trauma specific questions?" and shows Elsey's answer of "Yes." App. 946.

It asks whether the child presented "as being impacted by external factors?" with the box checked "Yes." App. 946. This question has several sub-boxes. App. 946. Two were checked: "Injunctions not to tell" and "Family response." App. 946. More significant was the box left unchecked, "**Coaching.**" App. 946 (emphasis added). The remainder of the unredacted report repeats the hearsay allegations made by Minor during the interview. App. 946.

Admission of the report was clearly error under Jennings, Kromah, and Rule 801(d)(1). Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 568, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010). Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001) (granting a new trial in a PCR case because defense counsel failed to object to hearsay testimony about details of a sexual assault); Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 566 (1994) (granting a new trial in a PCR case because defense counsel failed to object to hearsay testimony about details of a sexual assault). The statements concerning Minor being an "accurate reporter" violates the dictate of Kromah that forensic interviewers cannot offer opinions on the credibility of others. Kromah at 357, n.5, 737 S.E.2d at 357, n.5.

The State claims that Dr. Elsey's answer of "yes" to whether the child was an "accurate reporter" was vague. The State also claims that this answer betrays nothing about Dr. Elsey's opinion of Minor's credibility. If this response was indeed vague and conveyed nothing about Minor's credibility, then for what purpose was it relevant? Both at the Court of Appeals and in its petition to this Court, the State completely failed to distinguish the unredacted portions of Dr. Elsey's report from the opinions held inadmissible in Kromah and Jennings.

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